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4. General—The buildings of the various Government Hospitals and Dispen-
saries have been kept in good condition, the requisite repairs having been carried
out by the Pablic Works Dzpartment. Daring the triennium of 194244, Major
and Minor works costing about Rs. 48,245 and Rs. 2,44,897, respectively, were
carried out at the various Government Hospitals and Dispensaries.

Boumeay City HospiTars.

5. During the triennium under report, one hundred beds at the J. J. Hospital,
and a similar number at the 8t. George’s Hospital, which were placed at the disposal
of the Defence Department in 1941, continued to be at its disposal. In addition,
a part of the M. A. Podar Hospital placed at the disposal of the R. A.F., for
a hospital of 60 beds for their sick personnel.

6. @G.T. Hospital, Bombay.—The Clinical Unit System introduced at this hospital
has worked very satisfactorily.

The course started for the training of candidates in the D. M. R. continued to
make good progress during the year under report. The X-ray and Electro-
therapeutic Department is open daily, and is very popular. The need for
a proper Out-patients Department is keenly felt. The construction of a new Out-
patients Department has been sanctioned by Government as a post-war item.

7. Cama and Albless Hospitals, Bombay.—The generous offers of Rs. 1,00,000
from Mr. M. G. Desai for the construction of an administrative Block in the
compound of these hospitals with a modern operation theatre and of Rs. 15,000
from Dr. Freany Cama, for the construction of a Nursery for new-born babies,
have since been accepted by Government. :

Morvssin HosPITALS.

8. Civil Hospital, Ahmedabad.—The land for building a new hospital on a more
open and healthy site outside the city walls has been acquired, but its construction
has been postponed till after the war. In order, however, to meet the increasing
demand for in-patient accommodation, it has been deeided to convert the B. J,
Medical School Hostel into an annexe to the hospital. The question of shifting
the students from the hostel to a rented building, is under consideration
at present. '

9. Civil Hospital, Nasik.—A considerable amount of new hospital furniture
has been purchased from public donations amounting to Rs. 2,690 collected during
the year in cash in addition to a new operation table presented to the hospital.
A special grant of Rs. 1,570 has been sanctioned for drugs, ete., for the Venereal
Diseases Department at this hospital.

10. Vithal Sayana Civil Hospital, Thana.—The District Local Board, Thana,
has kindly donated an * ultra-violet ray lamp 7, worth Rs. 1,280, for the use of
the hospital.

The ambulance supplied to the hospital as a gift from the Thana District Rupee
Fund, is proving very useful. '

11. - Civil Hospital, Satara.—Government have accorded administrative approval
to the recurring and non-recurring expenditure in connection with the increase
in the number of beds from 50 to 75 in the Post War Reconstruction Scheme.
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Khandesh, Ahmedabad, Kaira, Surat, Broach and Panch Mahals, by carrying out
house to house survey in some of the selected villages and examining all the school
children and the patients and other members of the household of all lepers, he
detected. He also gave them suitable instructions as to their segregation and
trentment. The main improvement he suggested was that the treatment centres
should be in charge of Medieal Officers specially trained in leprosy treatment.
Arrangements have been made at the Haffkine Institute, Bombay, for the training
of 8. M. 8. Officers, in a special two weeks’ course. There are two courses in
s year, one commencing from Ist October, and the other from 1st December.
Twenty-one 8. M. 8. Officers have been trained during the triennium under report
and some more will be trained in future also.

In addition to the grants for the maintenance of lepers the following non-
recurring grants were given to some of the leper hospitals &unng the triennium
under report :

1942, 1943, 1944,
Re. Rs. Rs.
(1) Silver Jubilee 15,680 (1) Istrict Leper 3,000 Leper Hugfllt-nls, Baol- 3,000
Leper Hospital, Hospital, Bijapur. gaum, Nasik and
Sankeshwar. (2) Parvatibai Leper 3,400 Poladpur.
{2) Belgaum 40HD Hospital, Surat.
Leper Hospital (3) Silver Jubilee Leper 2,000

Hospital, Sankeshwar.

The management and control of the Kondhwa Budruk Leper Hospital in the
Poona District has been taken over by Government, from 1st November 1942,
as the Mission to Lepers, India, found itself unable to continue its management
and especially as it was necessary to do so, for the detention of statutory lepers,
until some other suitable arrangements could be made for providing accommoda-
tion for them elsewhere.

So also the management and control of the Sir D. M. Petit Leper Hospital, Rat-
nagiri, has been taken over by Government from 1st March 1944, as the District
Local Board, Ratnagiri, found itself unable to continue its management owing
to its straitened financial position, on the condition that it should pay an annual
contribution of Rs. 2,000 towards the maintenance of the hospital.

Under the auspices of the British Empire Leprosy Relief Association (Indian
Council), 38 centres were working in the Province in 1944. The total number
of cases treated at these centres during the year under report was 4,972 : out of
these 3,309 were old cases while, 1,663 were new.

In addition there were 75 centres (clinics) at Grant-in-aid dispensaries. The
total number of cases treated at these clinics during 1944 was 1,134. The total
number of patients treated in all classes of institutions in the Province during
1944 is reported to be 5,426.

20.  Anii-tuberculosis activities—A Tuberculosis ward constructed out of the
returnable amounts from the King Emperor’s Anti-Tuberculosis Fund has been
opened during the triennium under report at the Civil Hospitals, Alibag and Bijapur.
A ward fur tuberculosis patients at the Civil Hospitals, Jalgaon, which is nearing
completwn, will be ready for use soon.
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These hospitals are in charge of a B.M.8. Class IT Officer.with a S.M.8. Officer as
assistant, in addition to two nurses and other auxiliary staff, and they have provision
each for about 15 beds. The idea in converting the dispensaries into cottage
hospitals is to provide a co-ordinating link between the Subsidised Medical
Practitioners at one end and the District Headquarter hospitals at the other.
A rural dispensary, thus re-oriented as a cottage hospital, will take in cases from
Subsidised Medical Practitioners as cannot be treated at home and pass on to the
larger hospitals those requiring special facilities for diagnosis and treatment. As
these hospitals have proved very useful, it is proposed to open 33 additional
cottage hospitals, so as to have at least two cottage hospitals to begin with in each |
of the 19 Districts of this Province. £ .

(b) Improvement to District Local Board Dispensaries.—As a part of rural
Development programme, Government have sanctioned a scheme to give grants
to District Local Boards with the view that the dispensaries in the Mofussil in
charge of Government S.M.8. Officers, having indoor accommodation, should
use them to “ capacity 7 as they are little used at present, because of the poor
arrangements for attendance and diet. A grant of Rs. 360 per annum to a dispensary
having no nurse or midwife towards the pay of a nurse or two ward-boys, if
a nurse is not available, and a grant of 0-4-0 per bed per diem for diet charges of
the patients and other contingent expenditure have been sanctioned for the
purpose. This arrangement will induce, those persons who are unable to attend
the dispensary daily to take regular treatment to remain as inpatients. The above
scheme has been introduced in all the District Local Board Dispensaries in charge -
of Government Medical Officers. Government have also further increased the
grant of 4 annas per bed per diem for diet charges of the patients and other
contingent expenditure to annas 8 with effect from 1st April 1945, in the case
of those dispensaries maintained by District Local Board which have agreed
to bear 50 per cent. of the additional expenditure involved. It is also proposed
to extend the scheme to some of the Municipal Dispensaries in this Province in
charge of Government Medical Officers on the condition that the Municipalities
agree to bear 50 per cent. of the additional expenditure of 0-4-0 for diet
charges. G

(¢) Village Aid Scheme—In view of the fact that it is not possible to extend
the Subsidised Medical Practitioners’ scheme for the present owing to the paucity
of medical practitioners, Government have made a provision of Rs. 20,000 per
ammum for running about 400 to 500 village centres in the Backward class areas.
The scheme envisages the establishment of first-aid centres in villages where
thereare no medical practitioners and whichare situated ata considerable distance
from Government or District Local Board Dispensaries. Under this scheme
primary school teachers of such villages are provided with boxes containing simple
remedies and first-aid articles. They are given instruction in the use of these.
This scheme has proved very useful in some Districts like Khandesh, Broach, ete
These village aid centres are actually being opened now. :

Luran MeEpican RELIEF.

24. (a) Appointment” of Subsidised Medical Practitioners.—Under the Rural
Medical Relief Scheme, Government have so far sanctioned 333 centres in the
geveral Districts. The location and type of 321-of-them have already been
decided wpon and those of the remaining centres are under consideration. Due
to paucity of Allopathic medical practitioners, it has been found difficult to open
all the centres. Of the 321 approved centres, only 283 (Allopathic 96, Ayurvedic









N | ¥ K | -
[ ]
=3 E } f ke
1 " 1 E A . 4
- [ 1




10

28. Red Cross.—The Red Cross Society continued to render e:ﬁinenﬂy satis-
factory work under its enlarged scope. Most of the Civil Surgeons are members
of the District Societies and have co-operated actively in its work.

The Travelling Table Dispensaries conducted by the Society are continuing to
do good work in the Belgaum, Bijapur, Broach, Panch Mahals and Surat Districts.
The Anti-Tuberculosis Clinics attached to the Civil Hospitals at—

(1) Ahmedabad, (2) Belgaum, (3) Surat, (4) Poona, (5) Nasik and (6) Sholapur,
continued to do useful work during the triennjum., ™

The Bombay Provincial Branch of the Indian Red Cross Society pays annually
& sum of Rs. 4,140 being half the cost of the nurses employed at these clinics,
The Clinics serve the purpose of diagnosis and out-patient treatment and act
as a sieve to Hospitals where patients receive indoor hospital treatment. The
nurse acts as a Health Visitor also.

29.  Diets to Patients—Improved diet scales on a uniform basis have been
sanctioned by Government at all mofussil hospitals in the Province.

30.  Seheme for distribution of quinine.—Owing to the difficulties of getting quinine
from trade sources on account of the war conditions, the Government of India
decided to allocate supplies of quinine available with them for distribution
the Provincial Go.ernments to the private registered medical practitioners and
hospitals and dispensaries which are not clients of the Medical Store Depot,
The scheme for the distribution of quinine was started in this Province in December
1942 and the supplies of quinine allotted from time to time are distributed by
the Fuperintendent of xcise, Bombay, to the private registered medical
practitioners and the hospitals and dispendaries, according to the quota authorised
by Government and the Surgeon General,

For this work, a special staff has been sanctioned by Government, and the
sanction at present accorded will expire on 31st March 1946,

Along with quinine, quinine substitutes like Mepacrine and Quinacrine are also
issued to Medical Practitioners and institutions in this Province on a very liberal
scale. ;

sl Subsidiary Police Hospital, Naigaum.—A Subsidiary Police Hospital
at Naigaum in charge of a B.M.S. Class 1T Officer, with a Dispensary for outdoor
patients at Worli, was opened during the triennium under report for the treatment
of sick policemen in view of the increase in the strength of the Police Force—both
officers and constabulary.

32.  Acknowledgments.—The Department expresses its thanks to all individuals
and bodies who have extended their generosity towards the patients in the several
hospitals by way of donations or gifts.

Statement A.

93. The total number of Institutions open at the beginning of the triennium
was 739. During the triennium under report 42 new Institutions were opened
and 16 were closed. The number of Institutions opened on 31st December 1944
was TG5.
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C. Department of Antitoxins and Sere.—During the year, a total of 90 horses
were used for the production of therapeutic sera. Out of the total number of
90 horses, 44 were used for hyperimmunization against tetanus, 15 against
_ diphtheria, 9 against gas gangrene, 4 against dysentery, 14 against snake-venom

and 4 against plague. A total of 161 batches of toxins and toxoids, about 3,870 ce.
each batch, were prepared for immunizing the horses. A few batches of toxoid
were specially processed for use in man. One hundred and seventy-four batches
of plasma were concentrated during the year. The average vield of concentrated
and purified serum per batch was 3,313 c.c., so that 576,480 c.c. of concentrated
and purified serum were prepared during the year. In addition to this, 62,710 c.c
of natural anti-plague and anti-dysentery sera were processed for use in man. Sera
and toxoids, which were issued during the year amounted as follows : 562,662 e.c.
of serum, 8,917 c.c. of tetanus toxoid, and 9,456, c.c. of diphtheria alum precipitated
toxoid. Research works, with a view to preparing and standardising a new
polyvalent anti-snake-venom serum, were undertaken during the year. Successful
results were obtained.

D.  Department of Entomology.—This department was engaged in tabulation
and evaluation of data about fleas and rodents collected during the period of
field investigations by the members of the Plague Recrudescence Inquiry in the
Dharwar District. Recommendations for setting up. permanent organisations
for plague control in the suspected plague endemic centres and the neighbouring
areas in the Peninsular India were submitted to the ¢ Director of Public Health
for the Government of Bombay. Inquiries from different eivil and military depart-
ments about the identification of snakes, insects, ticks and rodents and general
information for their control were attended to, and suggestions to improve the
construction of rat-traps were given.

E.  Department of Pharmacology.—The activities of the department were almost
entirely concerned with the examination of drugs and chemicals on behalf of
the army. Nearly 2,000 drugs and chemicals were examined and the examination
included both chemical and biological tests. The department also prepared and
supplied to the army, solutions like ‘ Mydricaine * at the special request of Medical
Directorate, G. H. ().. New Delhi. Sulphanilamide paste for use in tropical ulcer
was prepared and supplied to the medical officers of the province. The routine
work carried out in the department chiefly consisted of examination and
standardization of pharmaceutical products prepared by commercial firms and
examination of drugs sent by medical officers and institutions in the province for
purity and potency.

K. Department of Virus Diseases (Including Rabies).—(1) During the year
under review 4,578 persons attended the Institute for anti-rabic treatment as
against 4,236 the previous year. The different anti-rabic centres were supplied
with 8,335 treatments. Of these, 584 were issued for veterinary use. One patient
developed hydrophobia. The patient, who had received two punctured wounds
on the hand as a result of a bite of a stray dog, sought advice 45 days later, when
the wounds had all healed up. Consequently a class III treatment was given.
The patient developed hydrophobia four days after the course of treatment.

() Vaccine against Yellow fever manufactured by the Laboratories of the Inter-
national Health Division of the Rockefeller Foundation is stored in the Institute.
The vaccine is lyophilised attenuated yellow fever virus known as 17D,

Inoculations were carried out on 6,585 people during the course of the year.
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@ (I). Department of Nutrition.—This department continues to render useful
ice to the Finance Department (Supply) of the Government. Various questions
human nutrition arising out of the rationing of food-stuffs in the province
ere referred to the Institute and the department has been giving technical
vice in matters of practical nutrition. During the year, experimental work
connection with the fortification of wheat flour with calcium carbonate was
adertaken. 1t was found that the addition of ecaleium carbonate to wheat flour
a proportion of 1 in 320 did not have any deteriorating effect on the profein
vitamin B, content of the latter under ordinary conditions of storage for
weeks. The analytical work was carried out in collaboration with the Depart-
ent of Biochemistry at the Institute.

Towards the middle of the year, the Finance Department (Supply) appointed
Nutrition Officer maninly to undertake field work and carry out rapid nutrition
hd diet surveys. This officer was trained at the Institute for the work and he
at present working in close co-operation with the Department of Nutrition at

pe Institute. 3

G. (I). Department of Experimental Pathology.—During the year 895 pathological
becimens, received from different hospitals in the province, were examined.
hey include brains from suspected rabid dogs, neoplasms, gyneecological conditions,
Iﬁ:rﬂulﬂais of different tissues and some rare and interesting pathological specimens.

is department continues to give assistauce to the research enquiries conducted
b the Institute.

A medical officer deputed by the Baroda Government was trained in the depart-
hent in histological technique and morbid histology.

H. Depariment .of Clinical Pathology.—During the year, 16,003 specimens
rere examined by this department, received from Government hospitals and
ispensaries and private medical practitioners, Free diagnostic aid is given
many infectious diseases besides typhoid fever, such as diphtheria, typhus
sver, cerebiro-spinal fever, dysenteries and malaria. The total number of samples
xamined for agglutination tests was 1,783. A few cases of typhus fever were
stected by agglutination tests alone. The number of samples of blood, examined
r Wassermann and Kahn tests was 9,606 and 2,954 respectively. Friedman
ssts were done on 163 urine samples during the year. In addition to the routine
iagnostic tests the activity of the department was also concerned in the preparation
f auto-vaceines, identifications and maintenance of poisonous snakes and extraction
f snake-venom and examination of samples of disinfectants for the Rideal-Walker
t_' :

A scheme for the preparation and supply of diagnostic reagents was sanctioned
Government under letter No. 5313/33/3082, dated 24th March 1944. Under
his scheme, some of the diagnostic reagents, such as agelutinable suspensions, high
tre sera, blood-grouping sera, Kahn anfigen, rapid malaria stain (JSB) have
een prepared. About 200c.c. of group sera A and B, have been supplied during
he year. Preparation of a water soluble stain (JSB) for malaria has resulted in
aving such costly reagents as glyserine and methyl aleohol, and the stain has
een supplied to all Civil Surgeons and Government hospitals of this province.

1. Department of Biochemistry.—This department continued to give useful help-
b various hospitals and medical practitioners as before in the die gnosis of disease
v the various biochemical examinations.
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The department also carries out work in nutritional problems and und

vitamin assays. Oxidation of different substances by the plague bacillus is
being studied.

J. Department of Chemotherapy—During the year, some new sulphanilami
-derivatives were prepared and their therapeutic action tested. Large-scale m

of production of atebrine, vitamin A, concentrate from shark-liver oil and penici
-are being investigated.

REsSEARCHES.

A.  Departinent of Entomology.—An earlier study on the effects of consta
temperature and humidity on the development of the larvae of X.cheopis, X.
and X.brasiliensis was in course of preparation for publication. The larve
X.astia are more susceptible to low humidities than those of the other two speci
The temperature tolerance of the larvee of X.astia is highest and that of the
of X.brasiliensis is the lofvest. The experiments conducted to determine the wat
relations of the larvie of X. cheopis indicate that the great loss of water from
larva due to absence of any special organ for economising water is compensated
the gain of water through food and absorption of water-vapour directly from
air through the integument. In order to test the pulicidal value of D, D, 4 £
its residual killing effect on fleas, experiments under laboratory and artifici
burrow conditions simulating nature were carried out, and the preliminary resul

give a great hope that the use of D. D. T., will prove very beneficial in the con
of plague.

B. Deparlment of Pharmacology.—Investigations on the causation and trea
ment of tropical nlcers were undertaken. It was found that the disease could n
be transmitted to experimental laboratory animals, but was readily transmit
to man if the skin was broken. Attempts to transmit the disease to the unbroke

skin failed. Application of sulphanilamide and preferably sulphathiazole pas
was found to be an efficient and convenient method of treatment.

C. Department of Virus Diseases (Including Rabies).—The Weil-folix te
were carried out on 1,596 samples. Of these 75 gave agglutination titres agai
OX19 in dilutions of 1/250 and over. An analysis of the clinical symptoms of th
typbus in Bombay has shown the following features i—(1) The average duratio
of the fever was 14-1 days. (2) The rash was present in 206 per cent. of th
cases. (3) The case mortality was low, in the neighbourhood of 1 per cent. Onl
more strain of typhus has been isolated.

Five strains of typhus OXK in type, were compared with each other in th|
rabbit. It was seen that the two strains from Imphal, two from Ceylon and on

from Caleutta, showed complete reciprocal cross immunity against on
another.

The chemotherapeutic activity of 8 representative compounds, which an
heterocyclic derivatives related to Sulphathiazole and Sulphadiazine, against XK

typhus was studied. None of these had any action on the course of the disease ir
the mouse.
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D. Department of Nulrition ad Experimental Pathology—(a) Tropical ulcer.— :
prly in the year, a research unit from the Institute was sent to East Khandesh
carry out an investigation on cases of chronic ulcer of the skin and underlying
bsues, situated mostly on the lower extremeties, which were reported to be occurring
large numbers. Extensive laboratory investigations were carried out and it
hs found that the ulcer closely resembles * Naga Sore ” or ** Tropical Ulcer ™,
described in Assam. The incidence of ** Tropical Uleer " has not been reported
bfore in the Bombay Province.

As the treatment of the ulcer has been unsatisfactory an extensive clinical trial
hs given to the application of a sulphathiazole paste in water-in-oil emulsion of
d-liver oil, prepared at the Institute. Local application of the paste combined
kth general treatment has yielded very encouraging results,

(b) Vitamin € content of Sweet Toddy.—Investigations carried out at the Institute
iwing previous years have shown that fresh sweet toddy contains approximately
mg. per cent. of vitamin C. Further experiments were undertaken which show

t the vitamin C in sweet toddy can be preserved by the addition of sodium

ate, citric acid and sodium metabisulphite, if the toddy is stored in the cold

a temperature of about 4°C. Under these conditions, nearly two-thirds of the

iginal amount of vitamin C was still present in the toddy even after a prolonged

rage for 10 months. On the other hand, when it is stored at room temperature

a dark pupbnsrd, addition of the abovementioned preservatives had practically

effect on the preservation of vitamin C. At the end of one month, nearly

o-thirds of the wvitamin C was destroyed and at the end of three months there
practically no vitamin C left in the toddy.

(¢) The role of nutritional factors in hepatic eirrhosis.—Under the auspices of the
hdian Research Fund Association, a research enquiry was commenced during the
bar to study the possible role of nutritional factors in the production of cirrhosis
F the liver. Portal cirrhosis is a common disease in certain parts of India, mostly

poorer classes of people and the ®tiology of the condition is obscure. Experi-
ental work in connection with this enquiry is in progress. Young albino rats

fed on purified synthetic diets and the resvlting chemical and histological
anges in the liver studied.

E. Department of Clinical Pathology—Contaminations of bile-clot cultures
ered a serious menace to the diagnostic aid in enteric fevers. The problem of
ping down the contaminations was taken in hand and various media were tried
clot cultures. The routine ox-bile medium, when modified by the addition of
yeerine and peptone, brought down the contaminations from 50 to 25 per cent.
ork is in progress to reduce this percentage further.
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